"I DON'T WANT TO BE CALLED STRONG ANYMORE": AN EXPLORATION OF COVID-19 MORAL MESSAGES AND HIGH-RISK DISABILITY IDENTITY MANAGEMENT

by

Isabelle Sharon Stahr Fisher

Bachelor of Science, 2020 Texas Christian University Fort Worth, TX

A Thesis

Submitted to the Faculty of

College of Communication Texas Christian University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science



May

2022



Place title of thesis here

"I don't want to be called strong anymore": An exploration of

Thesis approved:

Digitally signed by Hinderaker, Hinderaker, Amorette 04/18/2022 Date: 2022.04.21 **Amorette** 22:09:53 -05'00' Committee Chair Date Digitally signed by Andrew M. Andrew M. Ledbetter 04/18/2022 Date: 2022.04.21 Ledbetter 09:04:54 -05'00' Committee Member Date Digitally signed by Kristen Carr Kristen Carr Date: 2022.04.21 04/18/2022 Committee Member Date Digitally signed by O'Neil, Julie O'Neil, Julie Date: 2022.04.25 04/225/2022 09:30:31 -05'00' Associate Dean Date

Copyright by

Isabelle Sharon Stahr Fisher

2022

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Living through the COVID-19 pandemic as a high-risk graduate student has been the hardest thing I have ever done. However, I would not have been able to do it without the support of those around me.

Amorette, I will never have words to describe how grateful I am to you. All those years ago you looked at me and saw fire waiting to be honed. You were the first professor to encourage me to do disability research. You taught me how to be critical, how to not be afraid of my voice, and how to pick a great pair of shoes. Thank you for always sitting down with me to wade through the mess of my brain when I'm glitterballing. Thank you for always believing in me even when I didn't.

Thank you to my wonderful committee members. Andrew, thank you for teaching me how to press against the boundaries of theory. Kristen, thank you for always reminding me to check in with myself and my message. Thank you both for fostering my curiosity and putting your confidence into this work.

Liv, thank you for being my daily cheerleader. Thank you for always sharing the knowledge. Thank you for all the late nights and weekends working by my side. I truly would not have been able to get through this without you.

Thank you to my family who endlessly supported me throughout this process. Thank you, Grandma, for bragging about me to strangers even when you didn't quite understand what I've been doing at school. Thank you, Jay and Bex, for reminding me that I am more than school and for your endless patience when I couldn't talk about anything else. Mom, thank you for instilling a love of communication in me. Thank you for reminding me why I started. Finally, thank you for giving me *Bird by Bird* when I was sixteen because you believed in my shitty first drafts.

Finally, thank you to my beautiful disabled community and my participants for trusting me with your stories. This thesis is dedicated to us, everyone we have lost, and everyone we have yet to welcome.

They mattered. They all mattered. Imani Barbarin, 2022

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Acknowledgements	ii
Abstract	v
Chapter One: Introduction	6
Chapter Two: Review of Literature	9
Negotiated Morality Theory	9
Social Identity	12
Disability Identity	13
Stigmatized Communication Management	19
Chapter Three: Methods	24
Participants	25
Data Collection	26
Data Analysis	27
Chapter Four: Results	29
The Potential of a More Accessible Future	29
Compared Experiences	30
Initial Support	30
Cultural Moral Negotiations	33
Non-Accommodating Messages	33

Politicizing Disabled Bodies	37
Internalizing Messages	39
Deconstructing Identity	39
"A Sacrifice I'm Willing to Make"	40
Isolation	45
Reconstruction of Identity	46
Self-Reflection	46
Separated from the Non-Disabled Community	48
Reclaimed Identity	51
Summary of Results	54
Chapter Five: Discussion.	56
Redefining Community	56
Centering Vulnerability in Disability	58
Socially Negotiated Morality	61
Practical Implications	63
Limitations and Future Research	65
Conclusion	67
References	68
Appendix	78
Interview Protocol	78

ABSTRACT

"I DON'T WANT TO BE CALLED STRONG ANYMORE": AN EXPLORATION COVID-19

MORAL MESSAGES AND HIGH-RISK DISABILITY IDENTITY MANAGEMENT

by

Isabelle Sharon Stahr Fisher

Bachelor of Science, 2020 Texas Christian University

Thesis Advisor, Amorette Hinderaker, Associate Professor Communication Studies

Kristen Carr, Associate Professor Communication Studies

Andrew Ledbetter, Associate Professor Communication Studies

While adopting COVID-19 precautions, high-risk disabled individuals have had to come face to face with blatant messages about the worth of their lives. The goal of this study was to give voice to high-risk disabled individuals during the COVID-19 pandemic. This study employed negotiated morality theory (Waldron & Kelley, 2008) and social identity management (Silva & Sias, 2010) to guide a qualitative exploration of how high-risk disabled individuals processed stigmatizing moral messages and negotiated their many identities during the pandemic. The findings of this study suggest that high-risk people with disabilities experienced a significant identity shift due to the moral messages surrounding COVID-19. A thematic analysis of thirty interviews revealed the process of this shift through three main themes: the initial potential of a more accessible future, cultural negotiations of morality, and the reconstruction of identity

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

I've always known that, like, society as a whole doesn't really care about disabled people.

I knew it, but I didn't feel it the way that I have felt it during this pandemic. (Participant 6).

Medical discrimination is nothing new for the disability community (Pendo, 2020) and yet, the COVID-19 pandemic amplified those issues in several ways (Shapiro, 2020a; Shapiro 2020b, Shapiro, 2020c). During the pandemic, everyone experienced a level medical fragility and became part of a conversation that is the heart of the disability community. Yet, too frequently, these conversations occurred without ever recognizing the community at the center of them. Outside hospital walls, media, celebrities, and peers constructed their own thought-pieces on the high-risk community. Fox News producer, Kyle Becker (2021), punctuated his opinion over twitter, "Covid did not 'kill 725,000 people' – this is blatantly false. The CDC reports "Covid-related deaths" 94% of these had serious comorbidities like heart disease and cancer." American singer-actor, Venessa Hudgens, explained her dislike of COVID-19 shutdowns on Instagram Live. "Yeah, like people are going to die, which is terrible, but like, inevitable?" (BBC, 2020). Friends, family, and coworkers engaged in the forming and sustaining stigmatizing messages online and in person.

The goal of this study was to preserve the voices of high-risk disabled individuals during this highly-stigmatizing historical period. Guided by negotiated morality theory (Waldron & Kelley, 2008) and social identity management (Silva & Sias, 2010), this study explores how high-risk disabled individuals processed stigmatizing moral messages and negotiated their many identities during the COVID-19 pandemic. As such, this study advances theoretical arguments

such as expanding the definition of community, centering vulnerability in disability, and how morality can be socially negotiated.

Study Rationale

The theories used to sensitize this study have a wide array of backgrounds. Negotiated morality theory (NMT) has predominantly been used in the study of interpersonal relationships in family and romantic contexts (Waldron & Kelley, 2009; Waldron et al., 2014; Waldron & Kelley, 2017). This study explores negotiated morality on two levels centering on the perspective of high-risk disabled individuals. First, the largely public negotiations of morality that occurred about the high-risk community online and in-person. Second, the ways in which high-risk disabled individuals engaged in that negotiation as it pertains to their disabled and other identities. The bulk of existing social identity management literature has studied organizational identities (Silva & Sias, 2010; Ybema, 2009). These organizational identities have varied from places of employment (Ashforth & Johnson, 2001), community choirs (Meisenbach & Kramer, 2014), and teams (Zanin et al., 2016; Zanin et al., 2020). Studying organizational identity has provided key insights to how individuals manage salience with their nested identities (Meisenbach & Kramer, 2014; Zanin et al., 2016; Zanin et al., 2020). However, existing literature has not looked at how health identities are negotiated. Disability identity has been primarily studied in the context of disability disclosure (Blockmens, 2015; Braithwaite, 1991; Miller et al., 2019). Studying the ways individuals negotiate their disabled identities is particularly important in a global pandemic where an individual's life and livelihood is dependent on their success at managing their stigmatized and other identities.

The pandemic has made these issues even more salient due to the negotiation of life that is tied to them. The risk facing high-risk disabled individuals expands beyond COVID-19.

Medical shortages affected access to everyday care that many high-risk disabled individuals need (Pendo, 2020; Shapiro, 2020). As such, individual's access to independence and autonomy were also at risk making already difficult stigma management even more complicated. This study argues that the stigmatizing moral messages during the pandemic triggered a fundamental shift in the way that high-risk disabled individuals construct and negotiate their disabled identity.

Definitions of Disability and High Risk

Disability is generally defined as "a physical, mental, cognitive, or developmental condition that impairs, interferes with, or limits a person's ability to engage in certain tasks or actions or participate in typical daily activities and interactions" (Merrium-Webster, n.d.). In this study, disability is not an identity readily defined. Many modern interpretations of disability vary between differing local and federal law. Even the embodied experience of disability fluctuates within one individual. The process of identifying as disabled is highly individualistic. Some disabled individuals have a formal diagnosis, and some do not. Medicine can only describe different health experiences as technology allows it. Even when an individual does have a diagnosis, this does not guarantee that they identify as disabled. An individual's high-risk status regarding COVID-19 is much the same. While high-risk is generally understood as an individual's preexisting risk to develop dangerous symptoms due to COVID-19, the parameters of who qualifies under that have shifted. As such, this study recognizes the fluidity of the disabled identity and high-risk status. During the recruitment and interviews, asking for selfidentification provided participants with space to define both criteria for themselves. The recruitment flier specifically asked for individuals who self-identify as disabled and high-risk for COVID-19. Not using a distinct definition of disability helps include participants based off their lived experience rather than a rigid, medical definition of disability.

CHAPTER TWO: REVIEW OF LITERATURE

This study examines an identity shift within the high-risk disabled community as a response to stigmatizing moral messages. The review of literature, therefore, will present relevant literature to situate the study. The literature review will first present negotiated morality theory (Waldron & Kelley, 2008) to explore previous work in moral communication as a framework to explore modern public and interpersonal messages about and around COVID-19. The literature review will then explore social identity by first contextualizing disability identity and stigma management.

Negotiated Morality Theory

Waldron and Kelley (2008) argue that "human relationships are interpreted with reference to a system of implicit or explicit values" (p. 75). These values manifest and are dialogically communicated through stigmatizing communication (Goffman, 1963; Smith, 2007). Negotiated morality theory (NMT) was initially conceptualized within the context of forgiveness in romantic relationships (Waldron & Kelly, 2008) and has since been expanded in family communication (Waldron et al., 2014; Waldron & Kelley, 2017). Primarily, the theory suggests that relationships are heavily influenced by value systems which are then dialogically negotiated and enacted within the relationship itself. When an individual's value systems are threatened, the individual is motivated to reduce discomfort and uncertainty by negotiating the behavior or value internally or externally. Waldron and Kelley (2008) conceptualize this process within forgiveness which they argue is inherently a negotiation of morality. In comparison, this study conceptualizes negotiations of morality in the context of public and private discourse about high-risk disabled individuals during the COVID-19 pandemic.

When Waldron and Kelley (2008) proposed NMT, it was founded on eight key assumptions relating back to forgiveness. As NMT has been expanded in family communication, these assumptions have been reframed as four foundational ideas (Waldron & Kelley, 2018). First, NMT assumes that preservation of the family's concept of morality is a large motivator in family communication. When an individual or event threatens the family's concept of morals, the members of the family are motivated to go through a communicative sensemaking process. This study suggests that the same may be true for the members of the disability community. Previous literature has defined a community in crisis as "an entity with a common geographical boundaries and environments that interact with one another in intricate ways" (Norris et al., 2008 p. 128). Community crisis and resilience have largely been studied looking at communities that have a central geographical location such as school campuses (Ford et al., 2015; Wells, 2015), rural communities, (McCrea et al., 2014), and emergency housing (Brandhorst, 2018). The global COVID-19 pandemic has created a unique form of crisis. The disability community have had to not only respond to the imamate danger of COVID-19 as individuals, but also the public moral negotiations that devalued their community.

When an individual experiences highly moral public messages about the value of their life they may be likely to engage with a communicative sensemaking process with their community who are also experiencing the same messages similarly to families who bound by context and values. Negotiated morality theory also functions under the assumption that "feelings of pride, admiration, solidarity, and self-satisfaction are associated with moral compliance" (Waldron & Kelley, 2018, p. 236). The suppression, enactment, or response to moral emotions help family's dialogically respond to moral actions. Culturally endorsed actions that question family moral commitments are likely to challenge family communication (Waldron

& Kelley, 2018). Although existing work utilizes NMT's key assumptions in family contexts, this study explores NMT on a larger scale. In a time of restriction and loss, high-risk disabled individuals have had to engage in a communicative sensemaking process to identify which communities their values are compatible with. Every day individuals have dialogically and publicly debated whose lives are worth protecting. This study explores how high-risk disabled individuals have processed private and public moral messages about their lives and their disabled identities. High-risk disabled individuals have had to manage their own moral emotions in a variety of contexts such as family, friends, and organizational memberships.

In this study, I used NMT to examine the moral messages that high risk disabled individuals experienced and expressed about their varying identities. Hutz & Brown (2020) argued that moral discourse has the potential to breed polarization and animosity especially as it pertains to social roles. In their study, many couples felt stigmatized due to their choice to be child free. This stigma was frequently communicated in terms of moral responsibility to one's family and society. The framework for NMT understands that family and concepts of morality are not without their cultural and religious influences (Mete, 2018; Waldron & Kelley, 2018), however, previous research suggests that the enactment of an individual's moral identity occurs within the intimate relational space. The first of which is family. This study explores the same concepts in the context of a stigmatized community. Where families may be bound by a shared identity based off their shared values, so might a community which may feel pressure to present a unified front to combat social stigma.

Health choices are regularly interpreted in reference to an individual's perceived moral obligation to their family (Keeley, 2021). Family members of disabled individuals frequently perceive co-ownership of the disabled individual's trauma (Lindemann, 2012). Doctors are

perceived as "moral pioneers" as they battle ethics in their academic journey to continue to push medicine (Shaw, 2019). Despite medical decisions and experiences being interpreted as highly moral, the individuals and the community at the center of these medical decisions are rarely considered as actors with their own agency and needs. This study centers disabled individuals, their value systems, and the obligations that are placed on them. Memorable moral messages between parents and children are more memorable when conducted in private and intimate spaces (Waldron et al., 2014). In turn, these conversations greatly impact the ways in which an individual views themselves in the world as a moral actor as they enact their varying identities. NMT adopts a "life course perspective" (Waldron & Kelley, 2018, p.235) which tethers moral negotiations to major life events both expected and unexpected. As individuals reach different milestones moral conflicts in their lives evolve. The COVID-19 pandemic provides both a unique and unexpected moral conflict in which high-risk disabled individuals must negotiate their relational obligations while also responding to the overwhelming societal discourse about their lives. The pandemic places extra pressure on disabled individuals as they must manage moral messages pertaining to their stigmatized and community identities. This study explores negotiated morality on two levels centering on the perspective of high-risk disabled individuals. First, the largely public negotiations of morality that occurred about the high-risk community online and in-person. Second, the ways in which high-risk disabled individuals engaged in that negotiation as it pertains to their disabled other identities.

Social Identity

Goffman (1959) originally outlined identity by arguing that identity is bred from the ways in which an individual's self-concepts of interact with others. Individuals must reconcile the discrepancies between how they view themselves and the way others view them (Tajfel &

Turner 1986; Ybema, 2009). This study explores that conflict for high-risk disabled individuals as they negotiate their many identities. Silva and Sias (2010) defined social identity management as the "social process by which identities are constructed, maintained, and transformed" (p. 147). Varying interactions with others in family, organizations, and communities give birth to multiple identities that an individual may hold. An individual can be both a parent and a teacher, however, these identities may not always easily coexist (Ashforth & Johnson, 2001; Meisenbach & Kramer, 2014). These identities then become layered or nested and an individual may feel varying salience with any of their identities creating more pressure to enact that identity (Meisenbach & Kramer, 2014). Identity discourse pushes individuals to revisit, reinterpret, and redefine their own identities (Ashcraft & Mumby, 2004). This study explores the disability identity as it socially negotiated and communally maintained. The discourse around the pandemic pushes high-risk disabled individuals to re-evaluate their moral emotions and actions especially as it pertains to their various identities. The following sections will contextualize disability identity discourse and stigma management.

Disability Identity

In 1997 disabled individuals made up 19.7% of the United States population (U.S. Census Bureau, 2001). This number has grown substantially in the last two decades with a projected 36% of the United States population having a disability (CDC, 2019). Braithwaite (1995) predicted that the exponential growth in medical technology would give way to a whole generation of disabled individuals who previously would not have been able to survive. Medical technology has transformed medical definitions of fatal injury and illness. However, rather than eradicating the disability from the body, medical technology has made it possible for individuals to live with complex and sometimes life-threatening conditions. As disabled individuals,

particularly young disabled individuals, integrate into their local communities their experiences are informed and shaped by their disability community, physical needs, and experiences of stigmatization. Simply, an individual's relationship to their disability expands beyond the isolated medical definitions of disability. As such, Braithwaite (1995) argued that communication scholars needed to conceptualize disability as both a culture and an identity.

The study of disability identity has a long history. Disability has historically been defined by the manifestation of moral ideas regarding life and the body. Goffman (1963) originally conceptualized the disability identity through the medical model of disability. Although initially conceptualizing stigma, the purpose of the work was to help disabled individuals rehabilitate into a non-disabled society. The medical model of disability demoralized the individual through language such as "cripple" (Andrews et al., 2019; Dirth & Branscombe, 2018). Disability under this model is restricted to the embodied experience of illness and healing. Disability is understood as an individual and, hopefully, temporary experience. The social model of disability was developed as a critique of the medical model. The social model of disability suggests that it is society's lack of accommodation that creates disability. For example, a child with a minor sight loss is disabled until they are accommodated with their first pair of glasses. Proponents of the social model historically have pushed for person-first language putting emphasis on the individual's humanity over their disability (Andrews et al., 2019). For example, they are not disabled they have a disability. Under the social model, disability is one part of an individual's experience, however, it is not a core identity that influences every part of a person's life.

The social model recognizes structural inequality for people with disabilities and is still widely used by many within the disability community (Dirth & Branscombe, 2018; Ionescu & Callus, 2018). The social model has been prominently used to describe the consequences of

stigmatizing communication and tries to preemptively fight against stigmatizing rhetoric.

Popular advocacy movements after the United States' historical implementation of the

Americans with Disability Act focused on what people with disabilities could do and provide to
the greater community. The social model of disability served an important role to advocate for
accommodations and policy growth. However, the social model of disability has been

heavily critiqued in social psychology (Andrews et al., 2019), critical trauma studies (Ionescu & Callus, 2018), and disability studies (Reynolds & Kiuppis, 2018). Under the social model, focus on accommodation places burden on the disabled individual to perform the socially constructed idea of disability or attempt to hide their disability entirely (Blockmens, 2015; Miller et al., 2019). The social model serves to humanize the individual, however, it does so by removing the embodied and social experience of disability (Dunn & Andrews, 2015). Disability under the social model using person-first language has an underlying assumption that disability is inherently bad. Person-first language particularly attempts to reduce potential stigma by separating the individual from the stigmatizing characteristic.

The emergence of identity-first language stems from global social movements such as Black liberation and LGBTQ+ rights (Dunn & Andrews, 2018). In recent years, young and newly disabled individuals are encouraged to see their disability as something to be proud of. Disability pride stems from shared history and experiences with other disabled individuals (Andrews, et al., 2019). Many young disabled advocates have taken to social media to call out the non-disabled community for their apprehension and stigmatizing responses to the word "disabled" (Andrews et al., 2019). Chapman & Dammeyer (2017) found that Deaf individuals who utilize creative and cultural identification are better able to negate the psychological pressures associated with stigma. Identifying as disabled serves an important role in where a disabled individual perceives themselves in the world (Dirthe & Branscombe, 2018). Like any other identity, disabled individuals perform their disabled experiences based off how they believe others will perceive them. Depending on the social situation and momentary salience, an individual may feel more pressure to hide their disability or express it (Meisenbach & Kramer, 2014). However, the choice to hide one's disability from their peers does not erase the disability

or stigmatizing experiences (Braithwaite, 1991; Goffman, 1963; Hudson, 2011). An individual's disability identity may be enacted in and maintained in multiple social contexts. Within the community, choosing person-first or identity-first language is still highly contested (Andrews et al., 2019; Ionescu & Callus, 2018; Reynolds & Kiuppis, 2018). As a compromise, Dunn & Andrews (2018) encouraged scholars utilizing the APA writing style to discuss and honor both person-first language and identity-first and the APA has since adopted that advice into their manual (Oermann, 2019). In order to accurately reflect the identity of the participants, this manuscript utilizes both person-first and identity-first language as it is appropriate for the context.

Many disabled individuals have a complicated relationship with their own disability particularly if they have chronic pain or illness that may put their lives at risk (Andrews et al., 2019; Ionescu & Callus, 2018; Reynolds & Kiuppis, 2018). The disability pride movement and social model of disability has little space to conceptualize the relationship with one's disability as something that may be more complicated than simple terms of pride, stigma, and accessibility. If the world was fully accessible an individual with chronic pain would still have to seek out treatment for their pain. Ionescu and Callus (2018) argue for the adoption of social-relational model based off the United Nations convention on the rights of persons with disabilities. The social-relational model examines disability as it emerges from the interaction between the embodied disability and society. Under this model, disability identity assumed to be complex and fluctuating. In the same way that an individual who was not in pain today does not indicate they will not be in pain tomorrow, an individual may change the way they enact their disability identity when interacting with others.

Within the disability community, individuals identify with different subcategories of disability to describe and connect with others who share a specific experience (Ionescu & Callus, 2018). One such category is that of the "healthy" disability individual and the "unhealthy" also known as those within chronic illness and pain communities versus with more stagnant disability experiences. This study adopts the social-relational model of disability as it provides a space to look at high-risk disabled individuals. Previously, high-risk may not have been considered a category to bind a sub-community together, however, the context of COVID provides the academic community a new insight into a group of people least studied. Especially since many high-risk disabled individuals are alive due to the medical advances Braithwaite (1995) described.

Although this study adopts the social-relational model of disability it is also important to reflect Reynold and Kiuppis' (2018) British pathic model of disability. They first argue that British policy and academics traditionally adopt a 'strong social model of disability' overemphasizing disabled individual's ability to overcome in attempt to justify poor disability policy making.

[The pathic model of disability] "finds its primary moral force in the claim, 'Do you see how much and in what way I am suffering?'... 'Do you see the way in which society is structured such that I suffer because the group to which I belong to is oppressed, which is to say, is structurally and systematically disadvantaged?'" (Reynold & Kiuppis, 2018, p. 558).

The pathic model is designed for advocacy. The conceptualization primarily focuses on disabled individuals in the most need for significant policy change when it comes to their basic healthcare. Individuals with chronic pain, illness, or progressive disabilities are frequently

required to navigate medical institutions and fight stigmatization from their doctors and other healthcare providers. Although the pathic model does not adequately represent the way disability has been conceptualized in this study, it does inform some of the perspectives that may rise from the data. The population in this study have suffered significantly at the hands of their illness and at the hands of society that continues to stigmatize them. Using the social-relational model best fits the ever complex and fluctuating experience of disabled individuals as well as the communication studies perspective of identity both stigmatized and nested.

Stigmatized Communication Management

For individuals with disabilities, the discourse that surrounds their identity is highly stigmatizing. In Goffman's (1963) initial study of stigma, he called back to the Greek belief that the disabled body reflects an individual's moral insufficiency. Stigma "messages spread through communities to recognize the disgraced (i.e., recognize the stigmatized) and react accordingly" (Smith, 2007 p. 464). Meisenbach (2010) explained that stigma is used as a tool to draw the boundaries between in-group and out-group. Meisenbach (2010) built the theory of stigmatized management communication as framework to explore stigma through the perspective of the stigmatized. Stigma, like morality, is dialogically shaped by personal and social stories. It is also vast and can vary from person to person, experience to experience.

Just as stigma varies, so do the ways in which individuals attempt to manage stigma. These strategies may include all or some of the following: Accepting, avoiding, reducing offensiveness, denying, or ignoring/displaying. Individuals may better be able to manage stigma by using multiple strategies (Meisenbach, 2010). For people with disabilities, the strategies they choose to manage stigma largely depends on how well they can control the visibility of their disability(Blockmens, 2015; Hudson, 2011). Stigmatized individuals may try to cope through

social withdraw and attempts to hide their stigmatized identity (Smith, 2007; Meisenbach, 2010). However, hiding a stigmatized identity is not always possible and when it is, the labor of hiding may only invoke further withdraw (Braithwaite, 1991; Goffman, 1963; Hudson, 2011). Blockmens (2015) adopts a spectrum approach allowing their participants to identify as someone whose experience with disability may not be visible or invisible on any given day. When an individual does choose to disclose their disabled identities or specific health information, they are not only managing the boundaries of privacy, but also the potential stigmatized responses to their identity (Braithwaite, 1991). Ryan et al. (2005) found that disabled individuals who used assertive communication strategies may be able to better mitigate *mindless* enactment of stigma.

Illness communities frequently enact identity through online support groups (Kruk, 2015). These sometimes-anonymous groups provide spaces for individuals to swap stories and express difficult emotions unrestricted. Ultimately, the nature of the group reduces the labor of managing potential stigmatizing responses because participation in the group stems from shared experiences of stigma (Kruk, 2015). The story telling opportunities in online support communities also serve a vital role in the sensemaking process necessary to recover from trauma (Witney & Bates, 2016). The importance of online communities only multiplies as individuals find spaces for their intersectional stigmatized identities (Miller, 2017). Traumatic experiences serve as turning points in an individual's story (Bernsten & Rubin, 2006). Bernsten and Rubin (2006) argued trauma is born from perceived events that threaten one's life and/or spurs significant peri-social emotions. Following this description of trauma, high-risk disabled individuals are likely to experience many significant traumatic events as they not only have to fight for their lives, but also the stigmatized responses from those who are supposed to protect them. Turner (1984) described individuals who share a social category definition, such as women

or teachers, as a psychological group. A psychological group only evolves to a social group once they band together regardless of institutional support or formal organizational structures (Ashforth & Johnson, 2001).

The management of stigmatized disabled identities has been extensively researched in the context of disclosure (Blockmens, 2015; Braithwait, 1991; Miller et al., 2019). Disabled individuals frequently have multiple and evolving health conditions that grow and change with the individual (Miller et al., 2019). As such the *coming out* process as a disabled individual is never ending. Individuals with disabilities are not only having to manage the physical embodiment of their disability, but also the social labor of disclosure also classified as communication work (Donovan-Kicken et al., 2012). In addition to social and family disclosure, individuals with disabilities and chronic health conditions must also decide how to best reduce stigma at work (Jans et al., 2011; Westerman et al., 2015; Westerman et al., 2017). Many individuals choose not to disclose their disability unless visible or requiring accommodations (Blockmens, 2015; Jans et al., 2011; Westerman et al., 2015; Westerman et al., 2017). Stigmatized responses from employers may result in an individual's loss of face, career growth, and even their job (Dolen, 2021; Jans et al., 2011). Currently, one in three disabled adults in the United States have unmet healthcare needs because of prohibitive cost (CDC, 2019).

As stated previously, disabled individuals experience the world through their multiple identities. They are parents, employees, managers, and friends. However, whenever an individual interacts with others, they must manage the multiple layers of their identities (Meisenbach & Kramer, 2014). Where previously, individuals may not have experienced high salience with their disability identity or perceive it as a core identity, COVID-19 potentially shifts that salience for high-risk individuals due to stigmatizing messages. A disabled parent may not have enacted their

disabled identity while going to a PTA meeting prior to COVID-19 but found it necessary to protect their life during the pandemic. In relationships where individuals may not have discussed their disability, the pandemic puts pressure on high-risk disabled individuals to actively discuss their private health information with employers and peers. As such, also putting themselves at risk of potentially triggering stigmatizing responses. Without directly talking about disabled individuals, prominent news sources and social media have decided that some individual's lives are a necessary sacrifice for the world's comfort (Shapiro, 2020). High-risk disabled individuals are then bound to traditional social expectations while their peers talk about whether people like them deserve to live. The pandemic has created a context in which high-risk disabled individuals may have had to adapt their stigma management strategies to better negotiate their various identities.

The COVID-19 pandemic provides a unique opportunity to explore a potential shift in identity management across multiple research fields. Concepts of disability have always stemmed from questions of morality (Andrews et al., 2019; Dirth & Branscombe, 2018; Goffman, 1963). Whose life counts and what does it mean to have a quality of life? Even in modern definitions of disability that include pride as a potential outcome (Andrews, et al., 2019), pride is still a moral emotion (Waldron & Kelley, 2009). Concepts of disability identity are also heavily tied to the ways in which an individual's disability is stigmatized (Andrews et al., 2019; Ionescu & Callus, 2018; Reynolds & Kiuppis, 2018). The pandemic highlights the ways in which society dialogically defines and stigmatizes disability in concepts of morality pertaining to health and life. Where stigmatizing moral messages about disability may have been more subtle in the past, the pandemic has created a catalyst for the expression of those more horrific ideas about disability (Davis, 2020; Shapiro, 2020a; Shapiro 2020; add cites from introduction). However,

high-risk disabled have also had to negotiate their various identities and may have found that, during the pandemic, they have come into conflict. Regardless of how perilous the world feels, they must still be parents, children, employees, and friends. Yet, in this context, high-risk disabled individuals may find new saliency in their disabled identity as enacting their disabled identity as a means for survival. Previous literature placed within the pandemic leads to the following research questions.

RQ1: How have high-risk disabled individuals experienced moral messaging during COVID-19?

RQ2: How have high-risk disabled individuals negotiated their many identities during the COVID-19?

CHAPTER THREE: METHODS

The emergence of the COVID-19 pandemic is marked as a major historical event. Its global impact has shifted ideology and perceptions of reality. This study was conducted at the heart of the health crisis by giving voice to high-risk disabled individuals. Historically, people with disabilities have been highly stigmatized and understudied. This study gave voice to high-risk disabled individuals during a period of global tragedy that has directly affected their community. In this study, I chose to adopt qualitative methods to preserve the authentic voices of those within a highly stigmatized community. The list of interview questions is appended.

All semi-structured interviews were conducted through zoom due to both the high-risk status of the participants and restrictions given the COVID-19 pandemic. Although I did not conduct any in-person interviews, the virtual template allowed me to meet with individuals across the United States and Canada. Zoom was also more accessible and safer for both the participants and me. Participants were able to tell stories in their own homes and accommodate their own physical needs. Zoom also created the opportunity for participants who were hard of hearing or deaf to participate utilizing zoom's live closed captioning services.

Researcher Position

In this study, I am a complete member researcher (CMR) which means I am fully enmeshed in the population I am studying (Anderson, 2010). I am a high-risk disabled woman who is trying to give voice to my community. As an ambulatory wheelchair user, I consider myself to have a disability with alternating visibility. For me, this meant that when my participants talked with me over zoom, I did not appear to have a disability. However, in the recruitment process I was open about my own diagnosis and included a picture of myself in my wheelchair. I also employed my personal social media accounts such as Tiktok and Facebook

where I am vocal about my disability identity and advocacy. As a CMR, participants may have felt like they were talking with a cultural insider which created space for them to feel safer when disclosing potentially sensitive information. I also had the cultural education from my experience to have context for the various stories my participants told me relating to the medical care, social media trends, and law. My experience within my community educated me on how to use closed captioning services and other accommodative technology prior to participants asking. Overall, my proximity with the population studied served as tool to enrichen the research.

Participants

To provide participants the most freedom to tell their stories, I employed in-depth semistructured interviews. This choice was made to foster rich responses and help participants feel safe when disclosing potentially difficult information 3Participants in this study all identified as high-risk for COVID-19 and a person with a disability. This study included a sample of 30 participants (N=30). I continued to conduct interviews until I reached saturation at which point new information provided little to no change in emerging themes (Tracy, 2020). Participants were required to self-identify as high-risk for COVID-19 and as a person with a disability. Individuals who only identified as high risk for COVID-19 or only identified as disabled were excluded from the study as the aim of the research is to examine the stories that occur at the intersection between these identities.

For this study, I adopted a spectrum approach to disability visibility (Blockmans, 2014) to which participants were asked to identify as being invisibly disabled (43%, n = 13), visibly disabled (30%, n = 9), or alternatingly visibly disabled (27%, n = 8). Most participants identified as women (63%, n = 19), nearly a third of participants identified as non-binary or otherwise genderqueer (33%, n = 10), and only one participant identified as a man (3%, n = 1). Most of the

participants identified as White (81%, n = 24), a small percentage identified as mixed race/ethnicity (10%, n = 3), Indigenous (7%, n = 2), and Pacific islander (3%, n = 1).

Data Collection

I recruited participants through snowball sampling starting with initial recruitment with personal contacts and personal social media (Twitter, Facebook, Instagram, and TikTok). After asking permission from moderators, I also posted recruitment information and the flier in private online support groups. The flier included basic information about the study, a picture of myself in my wheelchair, and a brief description of my background. On social media, I included photo descriptions that described the flier so that individuals who used visual assistive technology could read the flier. I asked participants and personal contacts to share my flier and image description on their social media and reach out to those they thought may be interested.

Interested participants were encouraged to reach out to me via text, messaging, or email. After recruitment, I scheduled semi-structured interviews based on participant availability. The interviews were semi-structured with guiding questions to provide space for further probing regarding the participant's unique experience during the pandemic. Some participants had to reschedule due to personal health emergencies, unplanned hospital visits, or other unplanned events. When this occurred, I scheduled them for the next closest availability. Each interview was audio-recorded and transcribed verbatim using Zoom's automatic transcription services to create textual data for analysis (Tracy, 2020). In order to protect participant confidentiality, participants were assigned a participant number. All names or potentially identifying information from the interviews have been redacted and participants will be referred to by their participant number. Interviews lasted an average of 44 minutes and verbatim transcriptions resulted in 1210 pages of single-spaced data.

Data Analysis

The data was analyzed using an iterative analysis approach that balances emergent themes with reflection towards previous literature (Tracy, 2020). Through the iterative analysis process, I employed both inductive and deductive processes of analysis. I visited the data multiple times to develop a deep understanding of the data and its themes. This approach allowed me to analyze the data in the greater context of both academic and social work. This is vital during a historical period when individuals' ideologies are being called into question and potentially shifting. Through this study, I identified research areas that will need continued exploration as theory evolves in a post-pandemic age. Utilizing iterative analysis was also important as the population is greatly affected by the world around them. To fully explore the richness of the data in stigmatized groups, the researcher must comprehend a greater social structure and influence. Thus, the analysis highlights inequalities and insights for social growth (Tracy, 2020).

Data analysis was attained through first-cycle coding and second-cycle coding. First, I open coded the data to identify meaningful themes across all interviews (Lindolf & Taylor, 2002). To do this, I read the data line by line and code the initial themes that I identified during this reading of the data (Tracy, 2020). I developed the initial codes into a coding schema documented in a memo book. To create the coding schema, I collapsed the established codes from the first cycle coding into thematic categories which were used in the coding schema. The coding schema reflected each instance the data coded to help me keep track of how and where the codes were employed in the data (Lindolf & Taylor, 2002). During second-cycle coding, I coded individual lines of data using the developed schema from the first-cycle coding. All coded data was placed in the coding memo books and marked with a color-coding system in the

original transcripts (Tracy, 2020). From the data analysis, then constructed my results using exemplars from each theme to represent the themes in the data. Throughout this manuscript I employed participants preferred pronouns including she/her, he/him, and they/them to reflect the participants in a way that honors their identities.

CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS

This study explored the moral messages high-risk disabled individuals experienced during the COVID-19 pandemic and how high-risk members of the disability communicatively responded. Thematic analysis revealed three main categories including the potential for a more accessible future participants experienced early in the pandemic, cultural negotiations of morality, and disabled individuals' reconstruction of identity. The following themes utilize a temporal flow to describe the experiences of high-risk individuals over the first year and half of the pandemic.

The Potential of a More Accessible Future

High-risk disabled individuals described their early pandemic experience with hope for a more accessible future. First, they compared their experiences before and after the pandemic. They explained, that prior to the pandemic, they frequently participated in small quarantines to protect themselves from illnesses such as the flu. Participants had hoped that the pandemic would help non-disabled individuals to have more empathy for their experiences. Second, they described the initial support they received from their immediate communities in the early stages of the pandemic. Participants also described their excitement of the creation and popularization of technology such as Zoom. Before, this technology was said to be too expensive and too difficult to use just for people with disabilities. However, participants hoped that the pandemic would create the framework to include the technology after the pandemic was over and as such, include them as well.

Compared Experiences

Immune-compromised participants contrasted their experiences during the pandemic to those before it. Previously, participants had practiced navigating outbreaks of different illnesses with compromised immune systems. Participant 19 explained that her family had gone into "soft lockdowns" during cold and flu seasons. Other participants said they had quarantined during the 2009 H1N1 crisis or had practiced wearing masks in public during illness seasons. Despite selfpreserving practices before the pandemic, participants explained that many of their able-bodied peers did not have the language or the context to understand those practices until COVID-19. Participant 8 described their tentative hope that non-disabled people would continue to wear masks when they were ill after the pandemic. "The thing that I love about the pandemic is hey, people are wearing masks. It can be less likely for me to get sick." Participant 5 explained how they had previously altered their language with non-disabled peers choosing to use nondisability-related reasons to opt-out of unsafe events. However, participant 5 said that a year and a half into a global pandemic their able-bodied peers are "somewhat better at talking about the nuances of it [disability]." Thus, reducing communicative labor they had previously experienced. Participant 4 felt that emergency medical staff were also more understanding. She explained that previous messages had felt hostile "god, they're back." Whereas, at the time of the interview, messages from emergency medical staff felt more understanding "let me listen to you."

Initial Support

Participants also explained that early in the pandemic they received support from their non-disabled community. This support came from friends, family, professors, and medical staff. In the beginning, some friends who were not at risk would deliver groceries and medicine.

Participant 1 said that those who knew her personally said they would take COVID-19

precautions for her. Many of the non-disabled individuals who supported high-risk individuals were those who had some understanding of the participant's disability prior to the pandemic.

There were some really great friends that would come outside and sit at my patio with me on one side and them on the other side. Just have evening talks or ice cream sandwich parties because friends were willing to come and distance and when the outside. I mean its Texas, so it was hot... but they were willing to distance and sit outside, for me (Participant 2).

Two high-risk disabled students felt their professors were more proactive with accommodations and that their universities' public messages about social distancing and quarantine procedures were largely positive. Participant 2 told a story about medical staff helping her find places to practice for the varsity band while she was in the hospital.

While many cases of initial support occurred on the individual level, 11 of 30 participants explained how the rise in virtual accommodations initially gave them hope for a more accessible future. Participant 10, a deaf woman who was able to participate in the study due to Zoom's captioning feature, said that she believed that the extreme development of closed captioning technology was only possible due to COVID-19. Chronically ill participants explained how the popularization of virtual meeting spaces such as Zoom made it possible to connect with others. "I was more busy than ever. I was doing Zoom calls every Friday night and then all my other friends wanted to hang out because we were all locked at home" (Participant 5). Participant 2 claimed that "it's actually been a blessing in disguise, that culture is now built hybrid."

The option for telehealth also improved the lives of participants who were able to seek out diagnosis and care without having to manage the physical boundaries of travel. Participant 17

said that before the pandemic they were not "necessarily looking even having a future" due to their health issues. However, telehealth gave them previously inaccessible resources. Participant 17 also said that, as a community advocate, she previously found government buildings largely inaccessible and exhausting to navigate. However, Zoom made it possible for her to be present at public government meetings regarding policies that affect the disabled community. High-risk disabled students envisioned a future where they could take classes online when they were too ill to be present. Participant 19, a high-risk disabled mother to two high-risk disabled teens, said that she had not been able to go back to school without the fear of one of them becoming ill. However, virtual accommodations allowed her family to take the precautions they needed to stay well and for her to pursue a college degree alongside her son. Work from home options provided high-risk disabled individuals the opportunity to reflect on their needs prior to the pandemic. Participant 5 quit her previous job for an entirely remote organization. "That was truly amazing because all of these things that we thought as accommodations like working from home... that was just the norm at this job." She continued to say that she had never considered a remote job previously.

However, many participants recounted the frustration that came with virtual accommodations. "(The) work from home situation really brought to light that like, they could do that [virtual accommodations]... work and doctors and telehealth visits and things that we always wanted to be accessible and never were" (Participant 25). Participants felt that it was only due to the non-disabled population needing accommodations that accommodations were suddenly accessible and normative. Thus, making them reflect on the effects of stigma in their lives prior to the pandemic.

Cultural Moral Negotiations

The hope that participants experienced for a more accessible future only aggravated the stigma they felt when experiencing cultural moral negotiations which debated the value of their lives. Participants reflected that, despite the technology being available, as the pandemic wore on, the accommodations and support they initially received were slowly taken away. Messages that occurred across media and interpersonal interactions suggested that accommodations and COVID-19 precautions were a matter of politics rather than a matter of life and death for participants. These largely public debates left participants having to go through a sense-making process where they deconstructed their identities, internalized dehumanizing messages, and isolated themselves from those around them for their own protection.

Non-Accommodating Messages

Coded data in this theme described the messages participants experienced after the summer of 2020 when institutions and people refused to accommodate participants' health needs. High-risk disabled individuals found that after a few months of a soft quarantine, many of the accommodations they had come to enjoy were stripped away. In fact, 21 of the 30 participants said they experienced some form of non-accommodation from either an organization, medical staff, or friends and family. The shift away from virtual spaces, masks, and social distancing occurred as a mass attempt to shift back to a form of pre-pandemic life. However, for high-risk disabled individuals, this meant losing the accommodations they only just received.

That's the grossest part of it all. They took our words and started using them and now they're taking it away. They were accommodations and they called them that. And now they're saying they're not necessary. (Participant 17)

Two participants described their church's refusal to wear a mask or social distance which put the participants at odds with their religious needs and their needs as high-risk disabled individuals. Several participants experienced pressure to return to work and school in person despite their high-risk status especially after the COVID-19 vaccine was released to the public. Participants largely viewed the vaccine as the "light at the end of the tunnel" (Participant 14). However, seven participants expressed their concern for those who could not get the vaccine due to their immune-compromised state or how the vaccine did not guarantee that they would be safe. Some participants found that they were able to receive partial accommodations from the organizations they associated with while others had to leave the organization or submit to the new requirements.

While Participant 1 was hesitantly permitted to attend her graduate courses virtually she said she felt isolated. Particularly when one of her professors refused to use any live virtual conference technology such as Zoom. Participant 1 was instructed, "you just sit in the front and you can designate two or three rows and just ask that people not sit there." The only alternative they were offered to receive credit was to attend the class asynchronously without any access to lectures or class discussions. Participant 15's graduate cohort was given the option to move all classes online, in-person, or remain hybrid.

Those of us online were saying, like, 'hey, it's really hard to be online when there are people in person because y'all do not pay attention to what we're doing. I don't want to take anything away from your experience, but this is taking away a lot from mine" and ultimately nothing changed.

Participant 2, an undergraduate student, said that she frequently would attend Zoom classes looking at a wall because she was the only virtual participant. Participant 14 said they

were unable to continue their education online or in-person as their university failed to supply sufficient academic accommodations given the added demand from the pandemic. Participants who were in academic spaces found that their universities did not have consequences for students and faculty not wearing their masks appropriately. Participant 11, who works in student life, was required to return to work in person and attend in-person events with students who were non-compliant about mask-wearing.

Six participants struggled to find a balance between their workplace identities and their needs as high-risk disabled individuals. Participant 25 struggled to keep up with the everincreasing demands of their job. "They don't see it as I'm disabled. They see it as I'm not reaching numbers." Participant 25 was then put on probation after being up for promotion only a few months prior to the initial lockdown. Participant 30 said that they quit their job after their employer "ripped it all away" after 5 months of virtual work and required them to return in person despite providing medical documentation.

They just kept saying, 'Oh well, we're being careful. We're being careful.' And I'm just like, 'how do you know? It's only like five months into the pandemic and things aren't looking up at all. They were getting worse, and any sort of like concerns are brought up were just completely ignored.

Medical staff were also largely non-accommodating. Three participants said they believed medical companies used COVID-19 as an excuse to increase prices and limit supply. Both participants had to fight repair companies to take them seriously and take care of necessary items such as a wheelchair and IV pump. Participant 3 said that the refusal to acknowledge the problems in her IV pump resulted in the pump exploding and starting a house fire. "I'm like now, do you believe me? Now, do you believe me so then I lose two-thirds of what I own?" While the

repairs were underway Participant 3 lived in her garage as no accessible housing was available. Other medical staff were non-accommodative by refusing to wear masks or not requiring masks in the offices that high-risk disabled individuals frequent. Individuals who refused to wear masks after participants asked them came up with a variety of reasons why they would not. "It's too hot" (Participant 7) or other forms of discomfort being the most frequent reason. Participant 7 described her frustration when her personal aids refuse to wear masks around her. "I'm dependent on someone to transfer me in and out of bed and do personal care. And I don't want someone spewing germs in my face while they're doing it."

Refusal to accommodate from medical staff, friends, and family was perceived as an attack on the participant's autonomy and individuality.

They were so concerned about their own personal comfort they took away our freedom and so since March of last year, my freedom, my son's freedom, my husband's freedom, and my daughter's freedom and many people like me, have been limited to our homes" (Participant 19).

When discussing friends and family, participants told stories of family members refusing to mask, vaccinate, or social distance when interacting with them despite being made aware of the participant's high-risk status. Participant 10, who frequently looked after her grandchildren, had to isolate for her own safety after her son-in-law refused to get vaccinated. "I said, 'do you realize if I get COVID the chances are I would not survive with my medical issues?' And he said 'yes." High-risk disabled individuals received messages claiming that the disabled individual was overreacting or that they were not high-risk. Participant 2 summarized her experience with others' refusal to accommodate.

It's basically a line that I could not cross. Maybe the general public doesn't have these high-risk elements. You know, they could cross that line in terms of wearing masks...

They just didn't cross that line. When we're on two opposite sides I couldn't cross it and they weren't willing to do. So, we're at the end of the day, no matter how long we go around in the circle try and come up with these extreme ideas and how to keep me involved. It was really hard because I want to be around those people. I want to be around my friends, but you keep going around in a circle and we're never going to compromise in terms of where that line is.

Politicizing Disabled Bodies

Participants described the dehumanizing messages they experienced by those who politicized disabled lives, bodies, and deaths. Eleven participants explained that they tried to respond to non-accommodating messages the way they had done in the past. Before the pandemic, they frequently engaged in online awareness campaigns which, at worst, may have been met with indifference. However, after the pandemic, their advocacy was met with rejection. Regardless of advocacy, 20 participants experienced some form of political messages about the pandemic, COVID-19 precautions, and the deaths of the high-risk.

Participants who attempted to advocate for themselves and their community adopted a variety of strategies. Two participants said that they understood others' hesitancy as non-disabled individuals did not have the framework to understand the pandemic and its effect on the disability community. Both participants believed that with enough patience and education, those who had rejected them would learn the importance of COVID-19 precautions. Six participants said they used their social media to try to break down misinformation and provide the "disability perspective" (Participant 6) to the pandemic. Participants 3 and 4 said they tried to be open about

their unmet medical needs on social media. They discussed delayed procedures due to overflowing hospitals and missing medical supplies due to demands. High-risk disabled individuals tried to engage non-disabled individuals' sense of empathy and faith. "I was like, okay, I understand that you don't take this seriously, but I need you to for this other person" (Participant 30). Participant 19 said that she tried to specifically call out her Christian community by calling on their "social responsibility" and their "biblical responsibility."

Despite attempts to spread awareness all participants who said that they try to advocate on social media also said they observed extreme politicized responses. Participant 3 said people "jumped down (her) throat" when she posted recent COVID-19 numbers in her area. In fact, 20 of 30 participants said they received some form of politicizing message from friends, family, and personal aids in person and on social media. Most of the politicizing responses reflected hesitation on wearing masks and vaccination due to their belief that the government was trying to control them and suppress their freedom. Participants described a discrepancy from their perception of a health issue whereas others perceived it as a declaration of their political party. "It's politicized to the point where people aren't making science-based decisions about their health. They're making a political based decision about their health." Two participants were called "sheep" for their advocacy. Participant 28 said that she feels "frightened" of those who are publicly anti-mask and attended anti-mask rallies.

Participants attributed misinformation to the spread of fear towards the vaccine and the misuse of the ADA. High-risk disabled individuals discussed the conspiracy theories stemming from QAnon such as the pandemic being fake, the vaccines are being used for population control, or that masks were "child abuse" (Participant 3). Participant 16 said she tries to fight against the misinformation, "I'm like, you have a phone. You have a social security number. It's

already happening." Participant 10 said that people from her church were "buying in" to the conspiracy theories. Participant 20 said he tries to avoid social media altogether due to the increased politicization on Instagram. Participant 9 said that she felt like she did not know her inlaws anymore after they started expressing beliefs shared among conspiracy theorists.

Internalizing Messages

Over the course of the pandemic, high-risk disabled individuals faced frequent demoralizing messages. These messages were largely public and triggered a sense-making process where they internalized dehumanizing messages. During this process, high-risk disabled individuals deconstructed their identities, processed messages which stated that their lives were a worthy sacrifice and isolated from those around them for their own protection. All participants had an experience with demoralizing messages. The demoralizing messages included messages that existed prior to the pandemic; however, the context of the pandemic was made more painful and caused a re-evaluation of their identities and value compatibility with those around them.

Deconstructing Identity

For high-risk disabled individuals, the dehumanizing messages they experienced may have not been new, but they triggered a deconstruction of identity. Participants had to re-evaluate their social and interpersonal roles in the context of their disabled identities. For participant 3, this re-evaluation occurred after her young, autistic daughter overheard her arguing with a medical provider over the phone.

My daughter grabbed a chair, and she pushed all the way up against my wheelchair. I can't move and I'm like trying to deal with the provider and she's just sitting there against me like physically against me. I'm like, '[name redacted], what are you doing?' She's like, 'I'm here to protect you. They're going to kill you'... Before, like I go to the doctor,

she was at school, and then I come back... She never had to hear anything she had no idea what's going on and it's not like I tell her much. Because that's not – She doesn't need to be worried about that. That's not kid stuff.

Eight participants explained that being an advocate was central to their disabled identities. Not only did they follow the work of disabled advocates who came before them, but they also tried to preserve their history and pride. Despite their work to protect the disability community, they would have to debate non-disabled individuals until the non-disabled individuals became disabled themselves or had someone close to them become disabled. This was especially difficult for participants when facing individuals who had become disabled due to COVID-19. Participant 14 expressed their frustration with newly disabled individuals who were upset by the infrastructure failures they had previously ignored. "They get very frustrated, and they get very upset that things aren't getting done and the most I can say is, we've been fighting this fight for years." Participant 14 explained that they struggle to empathize with those who became disabled from COVID-19 due to their refusal to take precautions and putting the rest of the community at risk.

"A Sacrifice I'm Willing to Make"

Twenty-one participants experienced stigmatizing messages which suggested that high-risk individuals' lives could be sacrificed for the sake of the economy and the comfort of others.

I've always known that, like, society as a whole doesn't really care about disabled people. I knew it, but I didn't feel it the way that I have felt it during this pandemic. Like there was there's just this- I guess it was news stories where people are like, 'oh only disabled people are going to die.' News stories that feel like, 'oh, only you're going to die and that's the sacrifice we're willing to make.' Every day just kind of wears down on you after

a while. And so, it was just like all of these things that I knew on a surface level I got to really, really feel (Participant 6).

Participant 8 overheard a man at her local store upset that he had to "make concessions" for "the unnecessary people."

I remember specifically saying to one person like, "do you know. Anyone in your life that you love that is high risk?" And they were like, "well, my grandma's lived a good life if she has to go for the sake of our economy, she has to go" (Participant 26).

Participant 21 said that one of their local politicians said that seniors should give up their lives to restart the economy. Participant 24 described her difficulty with messages that dismissed the high-risk who had died from COVID-19. "Like, those people are still loved. They're still someone. They don't mean less because they're high-risk."

When participants were not being told to give up their physical lives, they were told to give up their quality of life. Participant 28 described a TikTok they saw where disabled individuals were told: "just stay home if they don't want to die."

People are like oh if you're afraid to die just stay home. I'm like, I'm not afraid to die, but I am afraid to not live, and I feel like right now, a lot of people are not living their life.

And I'm like, why am I wasting my last remaining good years, potentially, just like stuck in my house? (Participant 26)

Participant 12 said that the general population has a "narrow view of what a disabled person looks like." As such, there is an expectation that all high-risk individuals did not have quality of life prior to the pandemic and do not contribute to society. So, their participation in

society would not be missed. "It kind of just sounded like everyone wanted me to put my life and hold so that way they could continue to do the things they wanted to do" (Participant 14).

Considering these demoralizing messages, participants perceived the behaviors of the public as statements about their life. When non-high-risk individuals have publicly refused to wear a mask, throw public tantrums, or post about their vacation to developing countries, participants felt that these individuals were saying they "don't care" (Participant 7) about disabled lives. "It almost feels like someone with a disability or who identifies as disabled had a completely different pandemic experience from someone who doesn't" (Participant 15). As such, high-risk disabled individuals felt left behind by their government, local community, family, and friends. Participant 8 explained that if she could not find a remote position soon, she's "essentially back on the streets." Five participants described interpersonal conflicts where family members invited them to birthday parties or other events that they had to decline. "I just can't risk my life over a 6-year-old's birthday party" (Participant 7). Participant 11 said she had to decide whether to miss a friend's wedding or risk her life.

Nine participants said they experienced patronizing messages that questioned their decisions and belittled their personal advocacy. Participant 1, a graduate student pursuing a Ph.D., was compared to a professor's child while fighting to be able to attend classes remotely.

They should have the expectation that I can do these things. Like, I'm an adult. Let alone an adult who's able to get into this program. I should not be questioned as much as I am. Like, I know I can do this I just need these simple accommodations."

Participant 13 said they struggle with their family taking COVID-19 precautions seriously because they are "fine before" and they are invisibly disabled. Participant 16 said that she was only able to get her wheelchair fixed after her able-bodied mother went to the

wheelchair repairer in person. Participant 23 said she understood her fear of hospitals after seeing a TikTok during the Black civil rights protests in the summer of 2020 which said that, for Black women, the risk is hospitals. "Because every time I would end up in a hospital, I was never listened to. As a biracial woman, my mother was White, they would listen to my mother before they would listen to me." This fear then impacted their decisions to seek out care while they were sick that summer.

Demoralizing messages left participants feeling betrayed by friends and family who knew more about their disability prior to the pandemic. Participant 6 described her feelings of betrayal listening to her cousins say that COVID-19 is not that bad. "They know me. They know what happens when I get sick. They've seen. They've taken care of me while I was sick." Participants frequented re-evaluated if their values were compatible with the people they had known their entire lives. Participant 23 reflected,

Like I've shared so much of my time in my life and my stories with this person. Little did I know, deep down that they really didn't care or couldn't care as soon as this one tiny little thing comes up.

Participant 4 said that for the first time in 56 years, "I have looked around at people, and instead of eyes of love I've looked with eyes of fear. Everyone around me feels like a hand grenade and it's terrifying."

High-risk disabled individuals also experienced messages through the stories of other disabled individuals. Disabled individuals are frequently connected with other disabled people and participants recalled their friends' stories. Participants also reflected the stories of high-risk disabled individuals like themselves in the news and talked about them on social media.

Participant 23 described a frantic call from a high-risk friend who had been admitted into the hospital COVID,

I got a phone call like, 'Please take care of my fiancé. Because I'm going to die.' And then, when he was in the hospital, he would hear the nurses being like, 'yeah, the patient in bed number two isn't going to make it. We're not going to bother.' And he could hear them talking about the person that he's sitting next to. Like, how can you deny that kind of thing happening? Like, this is not inconsequential. This is not an overreaction. This is real. Just because you don't know someone who hasn't had to go through it doesn't mean that it doesn't actually exist.

Participant 21 explained the impact of a news story about a disabled man who left to die in a Houston, TX hospital. Michael Hickson was quadriplegic with a brain injury and when he became ill COVID-19 his hospital determined that his quality of life did not warrant further care. However, the hospital refused to put Mr. Hickson in hospice. Instead, the hospital "basically shoved him in a dark room." Participant 21 explained that Michael Hickson died from starvation after the hospital stopped his feeding tube. Participant 21 said that she did not expect the hospital to go to extreme measures but make the death as painless as possible. When she told people about this story "they were like, 'it happens all the time.' But that's not the point… Having a DNR in place is different than, 'hey, let's starve this person.""

Stories like these furthered participants' sense of isolation as the non-disabled individuals reacted to them with indifference at best and hostility at worst. These reactions were interpreted as not only a dismissal of other disabled people but also a dismissal of the participants themselves. "They're just trying to stay safe. I'm trying not to get sick. I'm trying not to go to the

ICU or ER or dying. You know? And I have had friends and family who died of covid" (Participant 7).

Isolation

All participants were isolated from others at some level for both their physical and mental health. For participants, having to isolate for their safety stripped of them of their agency and made them "forced" (Participant 26) to stay at home or not interact with their non-disabled communities. When non-disabled individuals depended on social media so heavily during the early pandemic, Participant 17 said they believed that non-disabled individuals brought harmful messages and conspiracy theories with them. At the same time, Participant 17 felt that nondisabled individuals discredited social media. "Like when they're saying things like social media is not a place to get information, they're saying that disabled like voices don't matter at all because that's where we are." Five participants expressed their fear of posting fact-based information on social media due to the public negative feedback they experienced. Participant 6 is TikToker who uses their social media to promote their small business and talk about their experience as a service dog handler. However, despite trying to be open on the app they were worried about the app suppressing their content or banning them altogether as they had seen done to other disabled TikTokers. Participants frequently disengaged from social media, interpersonal relationships, and mass media. Ultimately, high-risk disabled individuals felt that they had been pushed out of the spaces that they had created for themselves.

Five participants said that they struggled with feelings of being a burden. Despite trying to fight for other disabled people or even themselves, the messages, at the time, become overwhelming. Participant 15 said they question themself.

"It makes me feel like I'm crazy like I'm overreacting and like I should be back to normal when I know that I shouldn't. And it takes a lot of effort to kind of walk those thoughts back and remind myself, like, no I'm doing what's safe for me. I'm doing what's should be safe for everyone that everyone should be doing in the first place and I'm not the only one that's doing this.

Participants 36 and 26 said they were more afraid of asking for accommodations from friends and family. Participant 26 said that she has struggled with suicidal ideation in the past, however, has especially struggled with internalizing demoralizing messages. "Like part of me is like yelling for my friends that are disabled and how their lives matter. And then I'm like but does mine?"

Reconstructing Identity

In response to demoralizing messages, high-risk disabled individuals had to re-evaluate their relationship with the non-disabled community and reconstruct their identities by centering their disability. This process required a time of self-reflection where the individual looked at the role their disability played in their lives. Then, all but three participants described separating from the non-disabled community. Unlike the isolation, they felt prior, the act of separating oneself from the non-disabled community re-established agency in the eyes of the participants. Finally, 18 participants went through a process of reclaiming their non-disabled identities by centering their disabled identity.

Self-Reflection

Twenty participants said that the messages they received triggered a period of self-reflection. This stage of self-reflection encompassed individuals' perception of their disabled

experience, their role within their families, and their disabled identity. Thus, this period of self-reflection created a fundamental shift in participants' perceptions of themselves.

Participant 14 described their experience having to address their "internalized ableism".

When I was told I was disabled it was really hard for me to grasp that concept because, in my head, I was still able to walk. I was still able to talk. I was still able to do all these things and something like the pandemic really shoves it in your face about how disabled you are.

Participant 22 has type 1 diabetes said that they had not thought of themselves as disabled until doctors labeled them high-risk and their non-disabled communities did not take precautions to protect them. Other participants said that COVID-19 taught them to re-evaluate the help they can offer and their hesitation to ask for help. Participants 23 and 34 struggled as they were previously seen as a helper in their family, but due to the pandemic and other health issues they were no longer able to play this role in the way had done prior to the pandemic. Participant 16 said that she did not think that the pandemic made her think differently about herself. However, it changed the way she viewed others. This was especially true for three participants who said that their churches' response to the pandemic made them separate their faith from their identity in the Christian community. Participant 29 said that COVID-19 precautions "shouldn't have been a question."

High-risk disabled individuals had to come to terms to the person they were before the pandemic and the person they became while trying to survive it. Five participants described a fundamental personality shift. Where previously they had seen themselves as driven and

optimistic, they now saw themselves as "jaded" (Participant 19), "bitter" (Participant 22), and "angry" (Participant 2, 5, and 39). "I view myself as more other. Like, I'm not part of the "norm" and that's fine. It's obvious that the norm doesn't want me anyway" (Participant 22). However, otherness gives freedom to embrace participants' disabled identities. Participant 17 said that they learned more about disability history than they had ever done before. Participant 9 said that TikTok played a key role in how they connected with the greater disabled community.

Separated from the Non-Disabled Community

The second-largest theme with 27 participants is that of separating from non-disabled communities. Unlike isolation where the individual felt they had no choice; separation was born from a form of re-empowerment where high-risk disabled individuals remove themselves from the larger non-disabled community. Participants' separation was also marked by an added sense of unity with those within the disabled community and an added expectation on the non-disabled individuals who wish to remain in the participant's life.

Participants described a process of centering their own needs telling those who come into proximity with them, "if you're not going to wear a mask around me, don't bother" (Participant 4). Centering their own needs also appeared in response to moral messaging. Participant 2, a freshman in college, explained that "maybe right now I just need to focus on surviving." Participant five said that they separated from friends and media due to the emotional drain they experienced while sharing time and space with those who were willing to "debate something obvious like masks." Participant 12 said that after listening to a close family friend make demoralizing comments about high-risk individuals they said, "you do realize that's me." After the conversation Participant 12 said they cut off their family friend. High-risk disabled individuals also frequently worked with mental healthcare workers to process their trauma and

learn how to better advocate for their needs. Participant 14 said that they have watched themselves move from accommodating messages such as, "can you please" to telling those in their life, "if you're not willing to make these accommodations knowing how sick I could get I'm not willing to be around you." As mothers of high-risk disabled children, three participants said they realized it was time to separate from others when they realized their friends and family did not care about their children.

While high-risk disabled individuals described a loss of friendship with those unwilling to do what must be done to protect them, relationships with those who remained became closer.

It really changed the way that I view friendships because I watched a bunch of people I thought cared about me tell me that like, "Oh well, it's fine if you die as long as I don't have to stay in the House any longer." And now I feel like every friendship I have is so much deeper, and we know very intimate things about each other because we almost have to say those things first just to make sure we don't get hurt later. Like, I need to know what your stances on ABC because if it's you know this, we can't talk to each other. So, it's created all of these really deep close friendships that are based on mutual respect instead of just oh you're near me.

Fourteen participants said that over the course of the pandemic their friendships have mostly expanded in the disabled community. They said they frequently connect over TikTok, video games, and live conference technology such as Zoom. Participant 11 described a wedding they attended where they spent most of the time with another high-risk guest. Participant 11 said that they "knew" that the other guest was going to take COVID-19 precautions seriously due to their own high-risk status. As such, they trusted the other high-risk guest over the guests who

refused to wear a mask or social distance. This was a common theme among participants.

Participant 6 continued to explain,

The new community that I've built with a bunch of other disabled people who are all feeling the strain, where we all support each other when we can. there's a joke about her disabled people have like this one \$10 bill that we keep passing around to each other every time we need something.

Trust within the community was important for many participants and even created a bridge with those they had become disconnected from prior to the pandemic. Two participants said that discussing shared health concerns with estranged family members assisted in improving their relationships with those individuals. However, participant 5 was concerned about high-risk individuals who did not separate. While the disability community tries to figure out who was safe enough, high-risk individuals who publicize their lack of COVID-19 precautions potentially send mixed messages to the non-disabled community.

I think that is somewhat harder because there are some people with disabilities who are immune compromised who are going out to bars and dinners and posting about that. So, I think it made it also harder, in some ways, within the community to figure out who is being safe enough, and what should we all be doing.

Participants also received support from the non-disabled individuals in their immediate circle. Participant 1 and 10 described their partners stepping in-between their partner's families and the high-risk individual. Participant 1 and her fiancé struggled with her fiancé's family after they declined an invite to their nephew's birthday party. Participant 19 said that her husband feared bringing home COVID-19 after his office returned to in-person. Other participants

described the importance of reaffirming their relationships with those who were willing to take the precautions necessary to protect them.

Reclaimed Identity

As a byproduct of a period separation, 20 participants experienced a form of reclamation of their disabled identities. Where separation was marked by the participants removing themselves from non-disabled communities, reclamation was shaped by high-risk disabled individuals reintegrating with society while centering their disabled experience. "We're starting to realize the value of our own lives versus what society thinks" (Participant 13). Five participants described a passion to dedicate their lives and energy to fighting for the disability community. Participant 6 said they became more involved in local politics so that they prevent future disabled individuals from experiencing the demoralizing messages they experienced during the pandemic. "I know that these people definitely won't help me. The people who will help me will stand with me and we're going to do something about it don't know what but something." Participant 12 changed career paths from makeup artistry to nursing. While the need to help the disability community was not new, participants described their new passion for advocacy as central to their disabled identities.

Four participants said that the reclamation of their disabled bodies occurred at the same time they claimed their trans identities. "It was finally a time where we could take a step back from what society wanted us to look like and just exist" (Participant 14). Participant 14, a Black mixed-race individual, experienced identity shifts across their intersectional marginalized identities. "Dealing with the internalized racism definitely helped kind of kickstart dealing with my internalized ableism." During COVID-19 Participant 14 came out as nonbinary and was diagnosed with autism in addition to their physical disabilities.

Participants also reclaimed their agency by finding moments of joy or laughter in their disabled experience. Participant 5 said that, as a teenager, she swore off being one of those "sticker people" who had stickers all over their notebooks and computers. However, during the interview, they proudly showed off their water bottle covered in disability-related stickers. Participant 6 bonded their sibling who also has a disability by making fun of those who made demoralizing remarks about COVID-19 and high-risk individuals, "I'll be like guess what blank said today, and then I say it, and we both laugh in that way that's like this isn't funny but if I don't laugh or cry so let's laugh."

Participants also described a new relationship with their disabled bodies. "Maybe I should actually talk about my needs instead of trying to pretend that they're not there to make everyone else comfortable" (Participant 30). Instead of "downplaying" (Participant 18) their needs participants described feeling "empowered" (Participant 17) to take care of their own bodies.

Now I'm more straight up with people. Before the pandemic I would brush it off a lot and like downplay my limitations and now I tell people my limitations before I even show up. So, yeah, before I used to push myself until I was injured and now I warn people that if it's not accessible I'm not going because I'm not getting injured... And that's where my mindset is... I see myself is more confident in my ability to care for my body (Participant 25).

Participant 27 said they "own being disabled" however before the pandemic they would have associated disability "with strength." However, the pandemic reinforced the vulnerability of being a high-risk disabled individual. "I don't want to be called strong anymore. I don't want to

be called resilient. I don't want to be called stoic or stubborn. Like I just want to relax for once, please" (Participant 26).

Summary of Results

This study was guided by the following research questions:

RQ1: How have high-risk disabled individuals experienced moral messaging during COVID-19?

RQ2: How have high-risk disabled individuals negotiated their many identities during the COVID-19?

Moral messages regarding the high-risk disabled community were largely dehumanizing. When faced with these largely public messages from valued members in the individual's life including celebrities and family, participants described going through a process where they reconstructed their disabled identity as central to who they are. This reconstruction process was triggered by dehumanizing messages which said that the contributions of high-risk individuals were not significant enough to warrant COVID precautions. Participants not only had to reconstruct their disabled identities but also their other social and familial identities. High-risk disabled individuals processed moral messages through this reconstruction and negotiation. Early in the pandemic, participants had hoped that the lockdowns and development of technology would help those around them become more sympathetic to their experiences. Instead, participants described going through a period where they internalized messages which patronized, politicalized and dehumanized their community. They coped with moral messages by connecting with other disabled individuals who were experiencing the same messages the participants were.

Negotiation of one's identity became a valuable tool for processing moral messages.

While in a period of internalizing messages, participants felt they were forced to go into

isolation. In isolation, they felt they were stripped of their ability to enact any identity beyond their stigmatized disabled identity. To enact their other identities, they had to compromise their needs as a disabled individual. However, if they did so, they were risking their lives. Participants negotiated their differing identity needs by centering their disabled identity. When doing so they reconstructed their sense of agency by choosing to no longer compromise their needs as a disabled individual. For many participants, this meant removing themselves from spaces and people who would not allow them to enact their disabled identity. Doing so, they found a stronger community among other disabled individuals who also centered the needs of the high-risk. Participants reclaimed their other identities by making their disabled identity a central part of the way they enact those identities.

CHAPTER FIVE: DISCUSSION

The long-term consequences of COVID-19 have yet to be seen and have only just started to be explored. The goal of this study was to preserve the voices of high-risk disabled individuals during this highly-stigmatizing historical period. Thirty interviews with high-risk disabled individuals from North America revealed the potential they felt for a more accessible future, the demoralizing messages they experienced, and how they reconstructed their identities during the pandemic. Participants described their hope for a more accessible future during the early 2020 shutdown due to the growing technology and the initial support they experienced. However, as the pandemic went on, their accommodations and support were revoked and replaced with politicizing and dehumanizing messages. These largely public negotiations of morality were generally directed to non-disabled people and were under the disguise of cultural commentary or matters of opinion. However, participants described how they internalized messages that claimed that their "unnecessary" (Participant 8) lives were worth the sacrifice "for the sake of the economy" (Participant 26) and the convenience of non-disabled people. Yet, individuals responded to dehumanizing messages by reconstructing their own identities to center the value of their life and the disability community. The themes explored in this study warrant an in-depth discussion to highlight the theoretical and practical advancements found in the data such as expanding the definition of community, centering vulnerability in disability, and how morality can be socially negotiated.

Redefining Community

The findings of this study suggest a broader definition of "community" including communities that are not geographically bound. Previous literature has defined a community in crisis as "an entity with a common geographical boundaries and environments that interact with

one another in intricate ways" (Norris et al., 2008 p. 128). Community crisis and resilience have largely been studied by looking at communities that have a central geographical location, such as school campuses (Ford et al., 2015; Wells, 2015), rural communities (McCrea et al., 2014), and emergency housing (Brandhorst, 2018). The global COVID-19 pandemic has created a unique form of crisis. Unlike epidemics which only affect certain communities, the pandemic has touched almost every community and every person. The disability community has experienced stress due to the pandemic twofold; first, fear for their lives, and second, a fear of those who belittle the worth of their life. In the context of this study, neither the crisis or the community are geographically bound. The self-organizing (Landau, 2007) nature of the disability community during this period has been prompted by the othering disabled individuals experienced at the hands of those who physically surround them.

The data suggests when participants' local communities started to open again and demoralizing messages became more prevalent, participants felt completely otherized and rejected. Online spaces were coopted by othering and stigmatizing messages from non-disabled profiles. For many participants, those in their immediate space were also those putting them in the most danger. Social media and technology such as Zoom then became a vital resource for the disability community to organize as disabled individuals separated themselves from non-disabled spaces. The disability community has a long history of organizing online largely through support groups (Kruk, 2015; Miller, 2017; Witney & Bates, 2016). After all, identity-first language was developed online among young disabled social media users prompted by other social justice movements (Dirthe & Branscombe, 2018; Dunn & Andrews, 2018). During a crisis, online spaces such as Facebook, Instagram, and Twitter have been integral for individuals to express their stories and find catharsis (Veer et al., 2016). Conferencing technology, such as Zoom, and

social media played an integral role in keeping the non-disabled world connected during the early stages of the pandemic. However, for participants who had frequently been left out of physical spaces, technology such as Zoom made the world accessible in a way that it had never been before.

Zoom and Discord provided channels for people with disabilities to communicate directly with those with whom they had previously been passively interacting online. Social media feeds became a means to advocate and re-emphasize the digital borders of the disability community in a way that put the dignity of people with disabilities at the forefront of the movement. While non-disabled individuals may be invited into disabled spaces, they must adhere to the communicative rules established by the disabled leaders rather than the non-disabled social norm. Previous literature has suggested that those with invisible and visible disabilities adopt different strategies to manage communication such as hiding their disability or preemptively breaking down limiting beliefs (Blockmens, 2015; Braithwaite, 1991; Goffman, 1963; Smith, 2007; Meisenbach, 2010). Yet, disabled individuals use these strategies as an attempt to integrate with non-disabled spaces. The separation identified in this study suggests something entirely different. Rather than attempting to integrate, disabled individuals created space for themselves. While disabled individuals may experience different forms of stigmatization due to the perceived visibility of their disability, the stigmatizing beliefs expressed during the pandemic have a universal application to nearly all high-risk individuals.

Centering Vulnerability in Disability

The findings of this study also suggest that COVID-19 and the messages that surrounded it created a fundamental shift within the disability community. Previous research on the disabled identity was largely individualized with a focus on how the individual claims pride and space in

an inaccessible world (Dirth & Branscombe, 2018; Ionescu & Callus, 2018). While the data in this study verifies those perspectives, it also suggests an expansion of the disabled identity to focus on the embodiment of disability and the disabled community through communal vulnerability.

Reynold and Kiuppis (2018) proposed the pathic model of disability which focuses on pain to counteract the expectation that people with disabilities must be resilient and strong. Most models of disability following the medical model have developed as a means of disability advocacy (Andrews et al., 2019; Dirth & Branscombe, 2018; Ionescu & Callus, 2018). However, the data suggests that the shift to centering vulnerability is inwardly focused to meet the needs of the disability community. When disabled individuals were isolated, their communal identities were strengthened as part of a unified outgroup. Dehumanizing messages were largely directed at the high-risk community rather than the individuals. "Only disabled people are going to die" (Participant 8) and if a high-risk person was worried, they should "just stay home" (Participant 28). While the messages may have been perceived as a personal attack, they distinctly addressed the community, thus highlighting communal vulnerability. Participants found that by centering their vulnerability, they demanded more of their non-disabled peers. When their non-disabled peers discarded their vulnerability, the disabled individuals reclaimed their agency by removing themselves from those relationships and claiming space in a community that protects itself.

Participants relied on their disabled community to not only cope with the pandemic but also to serve vital social roles in disabled individuals' lives. Previous research that looks at relationships between non-disabled and disabled individuals largely adopted a patronizing carefocused perspective where the non-disabled individuals could take care of a person with a disability (Keeley, 2021; Lindemann, 2012; Shaw, 2019). However, the data suggest that high-

risk individuals viewed members of the disabled community as more trustworthy because they were also vulnerable. When interacting with others in the disability community, participants were able to step away from the stereotypes and expectations placed on their disabled identities without compromising their needs as disabled individuals. In other words, they do not have to appear strong or resilient while in the comfort of their community. Within the community, they can honor their vulnerability and humanity.

While the dehumanizing messages participants experienced may be limited to the pandemic, the data suggests a fundamental shift in the way that high-risk disabled individuals view themselves, their community, and those outside the disability community. Traumatic experiences serve as turning points in an individual's story (Bernsten & Rubin, 2006). The pandemic has been traumatizing for a wide array of people, and communication scholars will need to continue to explore the effects of that trauma. Previous research has suggested that online support groups have been beneficial for individuals to express their pain in an unrestricted way without judgment (Kruk, 2015; Miller, 2017; Witney & Bates, 2016). This study suggests that, for disabled individuals, the communal identity built during the pandemic extends beyond an isolated and sometimes anonymous support group. Previous research has explored how individuals reveal and conceal their disabled identities as a form of stigma management (Smith, 2007; Meisenbach, 2010). The disabled identity was one of many identities an individual could express and may have been able to be separated from the other nested identities an individual holds such as parent or employee (Meisenback and Kramer, 2014). Ashforth and Johnson (2001) described nested identities through high order or low order. However, the data suggests that disabled individuals, by enacting their disabled identities in the disability community, may center their disabled identity in a way that paints all other identities. By making their disabled identity

non-negotiable, individuals enhance their agency to enact their other identities by reducing the potential conflict between their identities. They are a disabled parent, artist, or employee which means that accessibility and safety becomes a central necessity for all identity enactment. Future research should explore if and how this shift may be sustained as we move closer to a post-pandemic world.

Socially Negotiated Morality

This study proposes that high-risk disabled individuals experienced and expressed a cultural negotiation of morality. Participants reflected times where non-disabled individuals publicly called disabled people "unnecessary" (Participant 8) and suggested their lives were a worthy sacrifice "for the sake of [the] economy" (Participant 26). Data suggests that when stigma questions the value of an individual's life, stigma management is inherently a negotiation of morality. The cultural negotiations in this study occurred in public and under the disguise of cultural commentary rather than messages that impacted the disability community. Participants expressed their own moral negotiation, centering their lives and refusing to compromise their wellbeing or safety.

Previously, Waldron and Kelley's (2008) negotiated morality theory has been used to explore forgiveness in intimate relationships. They argue that all relationships are "interpreted with reference to a system of implicit or explicit values" (p. 75). However, the findings of this study suggest that moral negotiations can be communicated on both a social level and an individual level. Participants described experiencing a negotiation of morality in the form of debate about the value of their lives. Moral messages come from potentially valued social influencers such as leaders, celebrities, organizations, peers, family, and friends. Demoralizing messages both public and private prompted participants to re-evaluate their own and others'

implicit values in the form of processing their "internalized ableism" (Participants 14, 23, 26). This processing required participants to re-evaluate whether their values were compatible with society and their peers.

Before the pandemic, disabled individuals negotiated their human rights, such as equal access to school and work, by compromising their comfort and dignity (Blockmans, 2015; Braithwaite, 1991). The findings of this study suggest that prior to the pandemic, participants largely attempted to reduce future stigmatization through education under the assumption they shared a moral foundation with their peers, families, and the greater community. Yet, the mass rate of demoralizing messages throughout the pandemic required participants to center their own lives in future negations. "We're starting to realize the value of our own lives versus what society thinks" (Participant 13). When life-threatening stigma is normalized and produced on a mass scale, individuals must identify where the negotiation of their values ends and begins.

Health choices are regularly interpreted as reflections of an individual's moral obligation to their family (Keeley, 2021). However, in the context of COVID-19 participants were asked by family and friends alike to sacrifice their safety to preserve previously held social roles and identities. Participants expressed their negotiation by refusing to compromise their health and safety in the form of separation, thus reinstating their agency. Non-disabled individuals perceived this decision as a refusal to negotiate rather than as high-risk disabled individuals' choice to no longer be the only compromising party. This study proposes that negotiated morality theory (Waldron and Kelley, 2008) may be a useful lens to interpret resistance in highly stigmatized communities especially within communities where resistance is interpreted as an indication of moral failings.

Negotiated morality theory assumes that the preservation of family concepts of morality motivates and shapes family communication (Waldron & Kelly, 2018). When an individual or an event threatens family values, members of the family are prompted to go through a communicative sense-making process. However, the data of this study suggests the same concepts in families may be applied to highly stigmatized communities where shared concepts of morality are necessary for the perseveration of the community. Participants described a communal interpretation of behaviors such as wearing a mask and social distancing as moral. Value systems within the disability community were established on social media and through other virtual means by which high-risk disabled individuals engaged with each other. While a non-disabled stranger not wearing a mask may cause distress, individuals within the community were held to a higher moral standard. Brandhorst (2018) argued that communal resilience may be built by creating safe and enjoyable spaces. In their study, participants did this by emphasizing the individual's agency to act as a responsible member of the community. When an individual within the disabled community did not wear a mask or social distance, the behavior motivated a communicative sense-making process initiated by community leaders such as Participant 5. This sense-making process occurred to prompt moral cohesion within the community: thus, infusing the tools necessary for community resilience.

Practical Implications

The data also suggests two practical implications for the disability community. First, the member expansion of the disability community, and second, the expansion of disability theory within the community. COVID-19 has been a mass disabling event. As such, the influx of newly disabled individuals will highlight the cracks in supportive systems. According to the American Medical Association, 10% to 30% of COVID-19 patients will experience "long COVID" also

known as "COVID long-haul" (Berg, 2022). Symptoms of COVID long-haul include, but are not limited to, heart and lung disease, acute muscle weakness, and other disabling symptoms.

Long-haul is most likely to develop in unvaccinated adults (Ducharme, 2022). The data suggests that participants experienced some hesitancy against those who were disabled by COVID-19. Participants reflected the belief that others typically do not understand what it means to be disabled until they or someone they are close to becomes disabled. Individuals disabled before the pandemic struggle with limited resources due to an already overburdened system. COVID-19 has been a mass-disabling event and the influx of people with disabilities puts pressure on the already insufficient systems of support for people with disabilities. Participant 14 described interacting with long-haulers: "They get very frustrated, and they get very upset that things aren't getting done, and the most I can say is, we've been fighting this fight for years." While integration into the disability community for long-haulers may take longer, the added pressure on social systems will continue to highlight the cracks that people with disabilities frequently fall through.

Despite the added pressure, the data suggests that we are culturally moving to a space where disability is more readily discussed. Participants described addressing their internalized ableism and work to destignatize the ways they interact with the mobility aids and other medical supplies they needed before the pandemic. Centering the disabled identity means taking care of the disabled body and community first. Care cannot occur if an individual is unable or unwilling to use the tools necessary for them to interact with the world around them. By breaking down their internal boundaries, people with disabilities can better connect with those within their community. Thus, the disability community has no physical home ground and has expanded its organizing power. Participant 14 said that she learned about disability history online for the first

time during the pandemic. By being predominantly online, the disability community has been able to archive their work educating the community and those outside of it. Largely, since the pandemic, the disability community has been able to access information previously trapped in the ivory tower of academics and involve members of the community for natural evolution and application of theory. Conversations around disability have become more complex as members of the community have become interconnected. This is especially true as those with intersectional identities bring them critical perspectives that are better able to get at the heart of ableism.

Limitations and Future Research

The limitations of this study provide a path for future research. Exploration of how individuals negotiate morality around their stigmatized identities could strengthen literature in both negotiated morality theory (Waldron & Kelley, 2008) and stigma management theory (Meisenbach, 2010). As previously discussed, negotiated morality theory (Waldron & Kelley, 2008) has the potential for fruitful research when the worth of an individual's life is being socially debated. Communal coping (Affifi et al., 2006) may be a fruitful area of study to further explore disability community resilience. Limitations of this study include narrow sampling criteria, the limited period in which the data was collected, and the limited racial diversity of participants. This study focused on high-risk disabled individuals during the pandemic which does not reflect the entirety of the disability community. Future research should consider exploring the communicative messages and responses of disabled individuals who were not high-risk during the pandemic. While not as directly affected by the immediate risk of COVID-19, disabled individuals who were not high-risk still potentially experienced some of the same systemic pressures such as medical shortages described by participants of this study. The

interviews cited in this study were also conducted in September of 2021 when transmission rates were high and return to in-person policies had just begun. Future research should explore if the findings of this study sustained over time and what changes, if any, occur as we move towards a post-COVID future.

Another limitation is the lack of racial diversity of the participants. People of Color make up the majority of the disability community in the United States with Black and Indigenous peoples representing 27% of the disabled populations (Ross & Bateman, 2018). The communities most directly affected by COVID-19 have been low-income communities of color. Black, Indigenous, and Latinx individuals are more likely to get sick and die of COVID-19 due to social and medical inequity (CDC, 2022). Disabled People of Color have faced a variety of stigmatizing messages which warrants further and more in-depth research. Both Black participants in this study said that deconstruction of their internalized ableism was aided by their deconstruction of white supremacy. Further research should explore how individuals with intersectional identities managed those identities alongside historical events following COVID-19 such as the violence against Asian, Black, and Indigenous communities (Dharmaraj, 2020). Future research should explore intersectional perspectives to the pandemic and stigmatizing messages especially as race, gender, and sexuality intersect with the disabled identity to understand the full evolution of the disability community. Overall, communication scholars should continue to explore other stigmatizing messages towards marginalized communities during the COVID-19 pandemic. Social media has become a tool for community organization and advocacy, and as such, has a wealth of implications to explore further. Finally, future research should explore the disability communities across the globe. All the participants in this study resided in North America during the pandemic. Perception of moral messages can be

highly influenced by an individual's immediate culture. Zoom and similar technology have now provided the tools necessary to adopt a perspective of the disability community that expands beyond geographical boundaries.

Conclusion

During the COVID-19 pandemic, high-risk disabled individuals experienced very public and stigmatizing negotiations about the sanctity of their lives. This study explored those messages and how participants reconstructed their identity to reclaim agency and participate in those negotiations. The community studied has no geographical bounds and suggests that future research into stigmatized communities should expand their definition of community (Norris et al., 2008). To reaffirm their disabled identities and the importance of their lives, disabled individuals experienced a fundamental shift in the way they perceived their disability which centers their and their community's vulnerability. This shift in perception also triggered a shift in behavior where participants demanded that those in their lives compromise their stigmatizing beliefs about disability to remain in the participant's life. When high-risk disabled individuals made these decisions across their relationships with organizations and individuals alike, they employed their negotiation of morality. The study suggests that messages infused with cultural stigma are a form of negotiated morality (Waldron & Kelley, 2008) and that those who are marginalized will participate in that negotiation by the nature of membership in their stigmatized community. The accounts of high-risk disabled individuals reflect the time they were collected. The pandemic has created a context that has heightened the stigma that the disability community faces, but it has also strengthened the community's ability to respond to those messages.

REFERENCES

- Andrews, E., Mona, L., Pilarski, C., Forber-Pratt, A., Lund, E., & Balter, R. (2019).

 #SaytheWord: A disability culture commentary on the erasure of "disability."

 *Rehabilitation Psychology, 64(2), 111-118. https://doi.org/10.1037/rep0000258
- Ashcraft, K. L., & Mumby, D. K. (2004). Reworking gender: A feminist communicology of organization. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Ashforth, B. E. & Johnson, S. A. (2001). Which hat to wear? The relative salience of multiple identities in organizational contexts. *Social identity process in organizational contexts* (32-48). Psychology Press.
- BBC. (2020, March 18). Coronavirus: Vanessa Hudgens sorry for 'people are going to die' comments. BBC News. Retrieved November 14, 2021, from https://www.bbc.com/news/newsbeat-51941986.
- Becker, K. [@kylenabecker]. (2021, November 5). Covid did not 'kill 725,000 people' this is blatantly false. The CDC reports "Covid-related deaths." 94% of these had serious [Tweet]. Twitter. https://twitter.com/kylenabecker/status/1456620347982295048
- Berg, S. (2022). What doctors wish patients knew about long COVID. *American Medical Association*. https://www.ama-assn.org/delivering-care/public-health/what-doctors-wish-patients-knew-about-long-covid
- Berntsen, D., & Rubin, D. C. (2006). The centrality of event scale: A measure of integrating a trauma into one's identity and its relation to post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms.

 *Behavior Research and Therapy, 44, 219-231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2005.01.009

- Braithwaite, D. O. (1991). "Just how much did that wheelchair cost?" Management of privacy boundaries by persons with disabilities. *Western Journal of Speech Communication*, 55(3), 254-274.
- Braithwaite, D. O. (1995). Viewing persons with disabilities as a culture. In K. S. Verderber (Eds.) *Voices: A selection of multicultural readings* (pp. 37-44). Wadsworth Publishing Company.
- Brandhorst, J. K., (2018). Collectively cultivating resilience: The Role of agency and community at a children's emergency shelter. *The Southern Communication Journal*, 82(3), 89-102. https://doi.org/10.1080/1041794X.2017.1404123
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Disability and Health Data System (DHDS)

 [Internet]. [updated 2019; cited 2021 October 27]. Available from: http://dhds.cdc.gov
- Chapman, M. & Dammeyer, J. (2017). The significance of Deaf identity for psychological wellbeing. *Journal of Deaf Studies and Deaf Education*, 22(2), 187-194. http://doi.org/10.1093/deafed/enw073
- Davis, J. (2020, August 30). CDC now says 94% of COVID deaths had an underlying condition, only 6% were COVID alone. https://www.westernjournal.com/cdc-now-says-94-covid-deaths-underlying-condition/
- Dharmaraj, G. E. (2020). Intersectionality, community, and memory of a just future. *Media Development*, 66(4), 29–32. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/health-equity/race-ethnicity.html#:~:text=COVID%2D19%20data%20shows,%2DHispanic%20White%20populations.

- Dirth, T. P. & Branscombe, N. R. (2018). The social identity approach to disability: Bridging disability studies and psychological science. *American Psychological Association*, 144(12), 1300-1324. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/bul0000156
- Ducharme, J. (2022). As life returns to normal, there's one major COVID-19 risk we're ignoring.

 Time Magazine. https://time.com/6158273/long-covid-19-risk/
- Dunn, D. & Andrews, E. (2015). Person-first and identity-first language: Developing psychologists' cultural competence using disability language. *American Psychology Association*, 70(3), 255-264. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038636
- Dolan, V. L. (2021). "...But if you tell anyone, I'll deny we ever met:" The experiences of academics with invisible disabilities in the neoliberal university. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education, 1,* (1-18).

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09518398.2021.1885075
- Donovan-Kicken, E. Tollison, A.C., & Goins, E. S., (2012). The nature of communication work during cancer: Advancing the theory of illness trajectories. *Health Communication*, 27(1), 641-652. http://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2011.629405
- The Economist . (2021, November 13). *The welcome spread of Assisted Dying*. The Economist.

 Retrieved November 14, 2021, from https://www.economist.com/leaders/2021/11/13/the-welcome-spread-of-assisted-dying.
- Ford, J., Ford, J., Frei, S., Pilny, A., & Berkelaar, B., (2016). A network under stress: Using embeddedness to understand uncertainty management and resilience in campus emergencies. *Journal of Applied Communication Research*, 44(3), 316-355. https://doi.org/10.1080/00909882.2016.1192288

- Goffman, E. (1959). The presentation of self in everyday life. Anchor. https://doi.org/10.1215/08992363-8090145
- Goffman, E. (1963). Stigma: Notes on the management of spoiled identity. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Hintz, E. A. and Brown, C. L. (2020). Childfree and "bingoed": A relational dialectics theory analysis of meaning creation in online narratives about voluntary childlessness.
 Communication Monographs 87(2), 244-266.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/03637751.2019.1697891
- Hudson, J. (2011). The disclosure process of an invisible stigmatized identity. [Doctoral dissertation, DePaul University]. College of Liberal Arts & Social Sciences Theses and Dissertations.
- Ionescu, A. and Callus, A. (2018). Encounters between disability studies and critical trauma studies: Introduction. *Word and Text*, *9*(1), 5-34.
- Jans, L. H., Kaye, H. S., & Jones, E. C. (2011). Getting hired: Successfully employed people with disabilities offer advice on disclosure, interviewing, and job search. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, 22(2), 155-65.
 http://dx.doi.org.ezproxy.tcu.edu/10.1007/s10926-011-9336-y
- Keeley, M. (2021). Theory of negotiated morality. Thompson, T. L., & Schulz, P. J., (Eds.), Health communication theory (1ST ed., 79-88). Wiley-Blackwell.

- Kenny, E. [@emmakennytv]. (2020, November 4). People who were dying....who were repeatedly tested in hospital for Covid...who likely contracted it in hospital...who was going to die ANYWAY! [Tweet]. Twitter.
- Kruk, B. (2015). 'I can't bear the thought that he might not recognize me': Personal narratives as a site of identity work in the online Alzheimer's support group. *Communication & Medicine*, 12(2-3), 273-286. https://doi.org/10.1558/cam.18453
- Landou, J., (2007). Enhancing resilience: Families and communities as agents for change. Family Process, 46(3), 351-365. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1545-5300.2007.00216.x
- Lindlof, T. R., & Taylor, B. C. (2002). Qualitative communication research methods. Sage publications.
- Merium-Webster. (n.d.). Disability. In *Merriam-Webster.com dictionary*. Retrieved November 15, 2021, from https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/disability
- Mete, D. E. (2018). Ritual of Forgiving Communication as Morality Negotiation. *At the Interface / Probing the Boundaries*, 95, 37–53.
- Miller, R. A. (2017). "My voice is definitely the strongest in online communities": Students using social media for queer and disability identity making. *Journal of College Student Development*, 58(4), 509-525. https://doi.org/10.1353/csd.2017.0040
- Miller, R. A., Wynn, R. D., & Webb, K. W. (2019). "This really interesting juggling act": How university students manage disability/queer identity disclosure and visibility. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 12(4), 307-318. http://doi.org/1 0.1037/dhe0000083

Meisenbach, R. J. (2010). Stigma management communication: A theory and agenda for applied research on how individuals manage moments of stigmatized identity. *Journal of Applied Communication Research*, 38(3), 269-292. https://doi.org/10.1080/00909882.2010.490841

- Meisenbach, R. J. and Kramer, M. W. (2014). Exploring nested identities: Voluntary membership, social category identity, and identification in a community choir.

 Management Communication Quarterly, 28(2), 187-213.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0893318914524059
- Oermann, M. H. (2019). Publication manual of the american psychological association: New edition highlights. *Nurse Author & Editor*, 29(4), 1-4. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-4910.2019.tb00049.x
- Pendo, E. (2020, May 22). COVID-19 and Disability-based discrimination in health care.

 https://www.americanbar.org/groups/diversity/disabilityrights/resources/covid19-disability-disabilityrights/resources/covid19-disabilityrights/resou
- Reynolds, J. & Kiuppus, F. (2018). The pathic model of disability: Identity, moral force and the politics of pain. *International Journal of Disability, Development, and Education*, 65(5), 557-568. https://doi.org/10.1080/1034912X.2017.1416594
- Roulston, K., & Choi, M. (2018). Qualitative interviews. The SAGE handbook of qualitative data collection, 233-249.

- Ross, M., & Bateman, N. (2018). Disability rates among working-age adults are shaped by race, place, and education. *Brookings*. https://www.brookings.edu/blog/the-avenue/2018/05/15/disability-rates-among-working-age-adults-are-shaped-by-race-place-and-education/
- Ryan, E. B., Bojorek, S., Beaman, A., and Anas, A. P. (2005). "I just want you to know that "them" is me": Intergroup perspectives on communication and disability. In J. Harwood & H. Giles (Eds.), *Intergroup communication: Multiple perspectives* (117-137). Peter Lang Publishing.
- Shaw, M. K. (2019). Doctors as moral pioneers: Negotiated boundaries of assisted conception in Columbia. *Sociology of Health and Illness*, *41*(7), 1323-1337. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9566.12979
- Silva, D. & Sias, P. (2010). Connection, restructuring, and buffering: How groups link organizations and individuals. *Journal of Applied Communication Research*, 28(2), 145-166. https://doi.org/10.1080/00909881003639510
- Shapiro, J. (Host). (2020, July, 31). One man's covid-19 death raises the worst fears of many people with disabilities [Audio Podcast]. NPR.

 https://www.npr.org/2020/07/31/896882268/one-mans-covid-19-death-raises-the-worst-fears-of-many-people-with-disabilities
- Shapiro, J. (Host). (2020, December, 14). *As Hospitals Fear Being Overwhelmed By COVID-19, Do The Disabled Get The Same Access?* [Audio Podcast]. NPR.

 https://www.npr.org/2020/12/14/945056176/as-hospitals-fear-being-overwhelmed-by-covid-19-do-the-disabled-get-the-same-acc

- Shapiro, J. (Host). (2020, December, 21). *Oregon hospitals didn't have shortages. So why were disabled people denied care?* [Audio Podcast]. NPR.

 https://www.npr.org/2020/12/21/946292119/oregon-hospitals-didnt-have-shortages-so-why-were-disabled-people-denied-care
- Smith, R. A. (2007). Language of the lost: An explication of stigma communication.

 *Communication Theory, 17(4), 462-485. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2885.2007.00307.x
- Tajfel, H., & Turner, J. C. (1986). The social identity theory of intergroup behavior. In S.Worchel (Ed.), *Psychology of intergroup relations* (2nd ed., pp. 724). Chicago: Nelson-Hall Publishers.3
- Tracy, S. J. (2020). Qualitative research methods: Collecting evidence, crafting analysis, communicating impact. John Wiley & Sons.
- Turner, J. C. (1984). Social identification and psychological group formation. In H. Tajfel (Ed.), *The social dimension: European developments in social psychology*, 2, 518-538.

 Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- U.S. Census Bureau (2001). Americans with Disabilities. [Print]. Retrieved from https://www.census.gov/prod/2001pubs/p70-73.pdf
- Veer, E., Ozanne, L., & Hall, M., (2016). Sharing cathartic stories online: The internet as a means of expression following a crisis event. *Journal of Consumer Behavior*, 15(1), 314-324. https://doi.org/10.1002/cb.1569
- Waldron, V., & Kelley, D. (2008). Communicating forgiveness. Sage Publications.

- Waldron, V. & Kelley, D. (2018). Negotiated Morality Theory. In D. Braithwaite, E. Suter., and K. Floyd (Eds.), *Engaging theories in family communication: Multiple perspectives* (233-247). Routledge.
- Waldron, V. Kloeber, D., Goman, C., Piemonte, N., & Danaher, J. (2014). How parents communicate right and wrong: A study of memorable moral messages recalled by emerging adults. *Journal of family Communication*, *14*(4), 374-397, http://doi.org/10.1080/15267431.2014.946032
- Wells, M. D., (2015). Southeast Polk High School's Suicide Culture: Analysis of Communication and Community Resilience Strategies. *Iowa Journal of Communication*, 47(2), 223-232.
- Westerman, C. Y. K., Currie-Meuller, J. L., Motto, J. S., & Curti, L. C., (2017). How supervisor relationships protection rules affect employees attempts to manage health information at work. *Health Communication*, 32(12), 1520-1528.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2016.1234538
- Westerman, C. Y. K., Miller, L. E., Reno, K. M., & Spates, S. A. (2015). Sharing personal health information at work: What is appropriate and expected in organizations? *Communication Studies* 66(3), (378-397). https://doi.org/10.1080/10510974.2015.1019157
- Witney, A. J., & Bates, G. W. (2016). Narrative integration of identity following trauma:

 Lifestories of immigrants granted asylum in Australia following prolonged detention.

 Narrative Inquiry, 26(1), 88-107. https://doi.org/10.1075/ni.26.1.05wit
- Ybema, S., Keenoy, T., Oswick, C., Beverungen, A., Ellis, N., & Sabelis, I. (2009). Articulating identities. *Human Relations*, 62(3), 299-322. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018726708101904

- Zanin, A. C., Shearer, E. T., & Martinez, L. V. (2020). Toward a typology for negotiating layered identities: An oppositional discourse analysis of girl' youth sports,

 Communication Monographs, 87(3), 381-403,

 https://doi.org/10.1080/03637751.2020.1729993
- Zanin, A. C., Hoelscher, C. S., & Kramer, M. W. (2016). Extending symbolic convergence 61theory: A shared identity perspective of a team's culture. *Small group research*, 47(4), 438-472. https://doi.org/10.1177/1046496416658554
- Zhang, L. & Haller, B. (2013). Consuming image: How mass media impact the identity of people with disabilities. *Communication Quarterly*, 61(3), 319-334, https://doi.org/10.1080/01463373.2013.776988

APPENDIX

Interview Protocol

- Minor demographics at the beginning of the interview will be collected including:
 - How do you identify on the disability visibility spectrum from visibly disabled,
 alternating visibility, and invisibly disabled?
 - What is your gender identity and pronouns?
 - What is your racial/ethnic identity?
- Can you tell me about your experience being disabled during the pandemic?
- How have other people reacted to you and your disability during the pandemic?
- How have you communicated to others about your disability and needs during the pandemic? Has this changed? If so, can you give me an example?
- During COVID, how did you manage your needs and responsibilities such as those with your family, work, or friends? Can you tell me about a time that stood out to you?
- Tell me about the messages that you noticed during COVID about disability? Is there a
 particular message that stood out to you?
- How did the people around you respond to messages about disability during the pandemic? How did they respond to you?
- How has the pandemic changed the way you view yourself?
- How has the pandemic changed the way you view your future?
- What are some questions that I have not asked that I should have?
- What are some questions that I have not asked that I should have?

VITA

ISABELLE STAHRFISHER

Winter Haven, FL (817) 600-0674 <u>i.stahrfisher@gmail.com</u>

<u>LinkedIn</u>

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE

Graduate Assistant 2020 – Present

Texas Christian University

Taught two courses of Communicating Effectively in Your Community each semester Facilitated class meetings and discussions with over 20 students per session Constructed lesson plans for each lab and coached students through public speaking anxiety

Peer Writing and Student Support Services Tutor

2019 - 2020

Texas Christian University

Worked with underrepresented students to assist with their post-graduation needs Developed and facilitated writing programs to build resilience against academic burnout Collaborated with subject matter experts to enhance their communication skills

Education

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion in the Workplace Certificate

Jan 2022

University of Central Florida

M.S in Communication Studies

2020 – Present

Texas Christian University

Thesis: "I don't want to be called strong anymore": An exploration of COVID-19 moral messages and high-risk disability identity management

B.S in Communication Studies

2016 - 2020

Texas Christian University

APPLICABLE EXPERIENCE

Future Presenter May 2022

International Communication Association

"The Audacity of Equality: A Proposal for the Study of Weaponized Civility" Organizational Communication Committee

Presenter

National Communication Association

Nov

2020

"Navigating the Crossroads of Disability and Technology"

The Future of Communication and Technology